
INTRODUCTIONIN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

David Danon :  CIVIL ACTION NO.: 15-6864 (Cal) 
Plaintiff, 

:  JUDGE C. DARNELL JONES 

v. 

The Vanguard Group INC 
Defendants. : 

PLAINTIFF'S ANSWER TO MOTION TO DISMISS 
AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

INTRODUCTION 

The defendant's Motion was not set forth in paragraph format and therefore 

Plaintiff's response is that the Motion should be denied for the reasons set forth below in 

the Memorandum of law 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

Before the Court is the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss asserting that as a matter of law 

the Plaintiff is barred from asserting in the present action that his employment was terminated by 

the defendant, Vanguard, in retaliation for his protected activity as a whistleblower as set forth in 

various federal laws and regulations issued by the Securities Exchange Commission..(SEC). The 

asserted basis for the Present Motion is a decision in a state court in which Mr. Danon had 

asserted a qui tam action on behalf of the State of New York. In that state action the thrust of the 

Motion to Dismiss at the outset of the case with no discovery permitted was that Mr. Danon had 

acted unethically under the New York Rules of Professional Conduct and that because he 
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disclosed Vanguard's wrong doing internally before contacting the SEC he was not engaged in 

protected activity and could be terminated at. will by Vanguard. The state court's opinion was 

filed as Exhibit B to Defendant's motion. 

The state court decision makes no reference to and fails to address the federal and 

Pennsylvania statutes which are the legal basis of the present litigation. There was no full and 

fair hearing on the issues that pertain to this case and therefore no collateral estoppel attaches to 

the state court decision. Protected activity is established by the federal statutes and regulations 

which form the basis of this present action and which the state court ignored. Plaintiff is 

appealing the lower court decision. 

All of the alleged conduct took place while Mr. Danon was employed by Vanguard in 

Pennsylvania and as will be set forth hereinafter the Pennsylvania Rules of Professional Conduct 

permitted all of Mr. Danon's actions. The federal statutes and SEC regulations compelled and 

protected all of the actions of Mr. Danon. 

The Plaintiff submits the following arguments for the Court's decision: 

1) Mr. Danon met the ethical requirements of Pennsylvania 

2) a The New York decision erred in its interpretation of federal law 

and regulations and is therefore not a binding precedent on this court. It is not a basis for 

invoking collateral estoppel. 

h. The requirements for collateral estoppel under Pa law have not been met. 

Mr. Damon was engaged in protected activity and therefore his termination was unlawful. 
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3) Mr. Danon 's status as a whistleblower was acknowledged by the New York state 

Court that authorized the State of New York to rely upon his legal opinions as to the 

unlawful conduct of Vanguard in seeking to recover damages. 

4) There are disputed facts that preclude the granting of this Motion to Dismiss. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The Plaintiff was and is a highly regarded tax attorney with specialized knowledge of the 

tax laws applicable to the securities industry. He was hired because of his expertise by the 

Defendant Vanguard and worked exclusively in their Pennsylvania offices. In the course of his 

employment Mr. Danon became aware that in his opinion Vanguard was committing large scale 

tax and securities law violations including tiling false securities law reports with the SEC and 

filing false income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). In accordance with the 

SEC regulations governing whistleblowers Mr. Danon first engaged in internal reporting which 

the regulations establish as a critical part of SEC securities law compliance and informed his 

supervisors of Vanguard's wrongdoing and the legal basis for his conclusions.. . Vanguard 

ignored Mr. Danon's efforts to stop its fraudulent conduct, instructed him to stop voicing his 

concerns, to not put his opinions in writing and transferred Mr. Danon to another department. 

When Mr. Danon refused to further Vanguard's fraudulent conduct he was summoned to a 

meeting, told to find another job and was removed from the payroll six months later. Prior to his 

termination Vanguard's tax department had already received informal advice from a noted tax 

attorney in Philadelphia who agreed with Mr. Danon. Its actions were an intentional attempt to 

conceal its wrongdoing. 

In its New York pleadings and in its current Motion Vanguard has never stated that Mr. 

Danon's conclusions were wrong because it cannot do so.. If the Motion is denied Plaintiff will 
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produce opinions from national experts who support the opinions which got him fired by 

Vanguard. 

The present action is not a qui tam action as was the suit in New York. This is an action 

for wrongful termination based on federal and state law and seeks lost wages, impairment of his 

earning capacity, medical expenses for injuries related to his termination and other compensatory 

and punitive damages. 

STANDARD FOR REVIEW 

Under FRCP12 when the defendant introduces materials beyond pleadings this court can 

dismiss the Motion; consider the Motion ; or treat the Motion as a Motion under FRCP 56. 

Plaintiff submits that the same standards for consideration of a Rule 56 Motion should apply to 

the instant Motion. It is clearly stated in Rule 56 that a Motion must be denied if there exists 

disputed issues of material facts. There was no discovery in the New York action and it is not 

known what facts set forth in the complaint in that action are admitted or contested. The present 

Motion was filed with no answer to the specific averments in Mr. Danon's complaint In a Rule 

56 Motion all averments of fact not specifically denied must be read in the light most favorable 

to the non-moving party. In his complaint Mr. Damon has set forth averments of fact that 

establish his cause of action. Defendant did not file a FRCP 12 Motion alleging a need for more 

specific pleading. The Rules do not permit seriatim 12B motions. Therefore, only the legal 

issues need to be considered and Plaintiff contends that collateral estoppel does not apply. 

Because there are disputed issues of fact the Motion should be denied. 

Among the disputed facts assumed by the state court is that Mr. Danon's conduct was to 

be viewed under New York law as opposed to the law where the professional conduct occurred. 
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Where and how did Mr. Danon obtain the materials that he turned over to the SEC and the IRS? 

Were those materials actually protected by the attorney client privilege? In going to 

management was Mr. Damn entitled to the protection of SEC Rule 17 C.F.R. Part 240-249, 

Section 21 F of the Securities Act of 1934. This was ignored by the New York state action. Was 

there a full and fair hearing on the employment issue? The record is devoid of any factual basis 

to support the decision in New York to reject the federal laws that protected Mr. Damon and 

likewise is devoid of any facts to determine why Mr. Danon was not engaged in protected 

activity. It is submitted that there are material Pacts that are in dispute in addition to the erroneous 

application of the law that preclude the granting of the Motion to Dismiss. 

I. THE PENNSYLVANIA RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

Mr. Damon is a former employee who has filed suit against his former employer for 

Vanguard's wrongful termination of his employment. As such Mr. Danon is within the 

exceptions to Rule 1.6 of the Rules of Professional Conduct and his actions as a whistle blower 

met the ethical standards in Pennsylvania. 

Mr. Danon worked in Pennsylvania and Vanguard was incorporated in Pennsylvania. 

Plaintiff submits the Pennsylvania Rules and the ABA Model Rules control. Rule 1.6 entitled, 

"Confidentiality of Information" provides several exceptions which authorizes Mr. Danon's 

actions. 

Rule 1.6C states that a. lawyer may reveal such infonnation to the extent that the lawyer 

reasonably believes it is necessary: 

2 c)  to prevent the client from committing a criminal act that the lawyer believes is 

likely to result in substantial injury to the financial interest or property of another. 

Case 2:15-cv-06864-CDJ   Document 10   Filed 03/28/16   Page 5 of 27



3) to prevent, mitigate or rectify the consequences of a client's criminal or fraudulent 

act in the commission of which the lawyer's services are being or had been used, 

or 

4) to establish a claim or defense on behalf of the lawyer in a controversy between 

the lawyer and the client  . or to respond to allegations in any proceeding 

concerning the lawyers representation of the client. 

In comment 3 the Supreme Court further stated: "a lawyer may not disclose such 

information except as authorized or required by the rules of professional conduct or other law." 

See also comment 11 which permits disclosure to appropriate authorities to prevent 

ongoing fraud or criminal behavior. 

In conunent 12 it is stated: "to avoid assisting a client's criminal or fraudulent conduct a 

lawyer may have to reveal information relating to the representation." 

In comment 18 The Supreme Court recognized: "other law may require that a lawyer 

disclose information about a client." 

Mr. Danon was terminated after he refused to perform further conduct that was fraudulent 

and in some instances constituted criminal violations of the tax and securities laws of United 

States. He was obliged by the law and regulations discussed herein to report such conduct and to 

provide to the governmental agencies evidence in support of his reasonable beliefs and opinions. 

Likewise, Mr. Danon is now the plaintive in this action for his retaliatory firing by 

Vanguard. Under Rule 1.6 (4) he is clearly entitled to use such evidence reasonably necessary 

to support his claim. An element of his claim is that the defendant was engaged in fraudulent 
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and criminal activity with respect to its filings with the Internal Revenue Service and the 

Securities Exchange Commission. 

The government is a legal entity. The filing of false tax returns that unlawfully avoid 

substantial taxes is an injury to its financial interest and knowingly filing false returns is a 

criminal offense. The Vanguard funds, held by a substantial percentage of the American 

population, filed false securities law documents with the SEC. Mr Danon reported his discovery 

of these violations internally to Vanguard. When Vanguard ignored his advice and failed to 

comply with the law and instead told him to conceal his conclusions, Mr Danon was obliged to 

disclose Vanguard's violations to the SEC, the IRS and other appropriate agencies.; Mr. Danon 

did not violate the Pennsylvania Rules of Professional Conduct. New York is one of only three 

states that have failed to adopt the ABA model rules which Pennsylvania has adopted . The New 

York court based its entire opinion on its attorney conduct rules and therefore its opinion cannot 

be the basis for collateral estoppel in this action. 

Furthermore Mr. Danon's disclosures are not limited as suggested by Vanguard in citing. 

Balla v. Gambro Inc.,  145 Ill 2d 492, 502(1991) to support its argument. Balla  is not the law in 

this district The Third Circuit in Kochner v Sun Guard Data Sys. Inc.,  109 P 3rd  173 (3rd  Cir. 

1997) rejected the argument that Rule 1.6 disclosures were limited to fee disputes and an 

attorney's right to defend a claim against them and the argument that former inhouse counsel's 

suit for a retaliative dismissal should be dismissed because of the attorney's disclosures. It 

specifically rejected the employer's argument that former in-house counsel's suit for a retaliative 

dismissal should be dismissed because of his disclosures. That is the position Vanguard asserts 

in its Motion and the court should follow Kochner  and reject it. Please see also Wiley v 

Administrative Review Board  423 F.3rd  48(5th  Cir.2005) which applied the reasoning of 

7 

Case 2:15-cv-06864-CDJ   Document 10   Filed 03/28/16   Page 7 of 27



Kochner  and held that no rule or case law imposes a per se ban on the offensive use of 

documents subject to the attorney client privilege in an in-house attorney retaliatory discharge 

claim under the whistleblower statutes. Other cases have held that Rule 1.6 does not bar 

disclosures such as those of Mr. Danon. See Van Arsdale v. Intl Game Tech.  498 F. Supp 2d 

1321, 1329 (d. Nev 2007) citing Burkhart v Semi Tool, Inc.  5 P 3rd  1301 (Mont 2000); Hoffman 

v Baltimore Police Dept..,  379 F. Supp 2d 778,782-83 (D. MD 2005). 

Mr Danon's disclosures were appropriate and are not a basis to dismiss this action. 

There are a -variety of means available to limit the public disclosure of attorney-client documents 

such as confidentiality agreements, filings under seal and in camera review. The documents that 

were publicly filed with the IRS or the SEC should not be considered as attorney client 

documents. 

The state court erred in granting Vanguard's Motion to dismiss without a proper inquiry 

as to whether the documents in Mr. Danon's possession were in fact attorney client privileged 

documents or whether Mr. Danon revealed confidential information in violation of his attorney 

obligations.. In the instant case all relevant documents are related to filings made by Vanguard to 

the IRS and/or the SEC which are not privileged documents and Mr. Damn was permitted to 

reveal all information he disclosed under exceptions to attorney confidentiality.These are but a 

few of the many disputed facts that were not addressed in the state action and are additional 

reasons why the Motion should be denied. 

TI. THE ATTORNEY CLIENT PRIVLEGE HAS BEEN AI.1 ;RED BY 
CONGRESS 

As reported in the National  Law Journal  on August 9, 2011 Congress has expanded the 

exceptions to the attorney client privilege and attorney confidentiality in order to protect those 
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attorneys who report corporate crime. The Sarbanc's Oxley act of 2002 and the Dodd Frank 

Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 enhanced protections for attorneys 

who disclose wrongdoing to the SEC by carving out exceptions to the attorney client privilege. 

Congress deemed such exceptions would serve the public interest by preventing wrongdoers 

from using the attorney-client privilege to shield financial misconduct and by deterring 

employers from retaliatory actions against attorneys who report corporate misconduct. 

The New York opinion did not apply the revised attorney rules enacted in these federal 

statutes and regulations. It was based solely on the New York ethical rules and therefore does not 

meet the standards required for collateral estoppel to apply. And as noted above there is no 

identity of claims. The present action is for wrongful termination , an entirely different cause of 

action from an action under the NYFCA. Finally, the state court granted a preliminary motion 

to dismiss and provided no opportunity for discovery, no consideration of the federal law,110 

trial on the merits and there was no full and fair trial of the relevant issues. These facts also 

preclude collateral estoppel as a bar to the present action. 

The SEC promulgated 17 C. F.R. 205.3 following the enactment of the Sarbanes Oxley 

legislation which mandated reforms to enhance corporate responsibility and financial disclosures 

and to combat corporate and accounting fraud ..It included explicit provisions for attorney 

whistleblowers to report otherwise privileged information to the SEC.. Specifically,attorneys 

arc permitted to disclose information in order to prevent an issuer such as Vanguard from 

committing a material violation of the securities laws that is likely to cause substantial harm to 

the financial interest of the company or investors This exception is consistent with rule 1.6 of 

the Pennsylvania Rules of Professional Conduct as discussed above. 

Subsequent to enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley in 2003, the American Bar Association 
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amended the Model Rules of Professional Conduct which, like the Pennsylvania rules permit 

disclosure of client confidential information to prevent future injuries to the financial interest of 

others (investors) or to prevent, mitigate or rectifying past financial crimes. 

The courts have held that the federal rules trump state bar rules. See Jordan v. Sprint 

Nextel Corp.  ARB No 66-105, ALTNo 2006-S0X-041 (ARB Sept 30, 2009; Van Arsdale  v. Int'l 

Game Tech,  577 F. 3rd 989-96 (9th Cir 2009) 

Mr. Danon reported violations that Vanguard committed during his tenure as a tax lawyer 

in Vanguard's legal department. Thus Mr. Danon was potentially exposed to a legal action by the 

Vanguard shareholders for failing to disclose illegal conduct which he knew Vanguard would not 

correct. Mr. Danon's only reasonable course of action was to report to the authorities 

.III.  THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, 

ARTICLE VI 

It is stated: 

This Constitution and the laws of the United States which shall be made in pursuance 

thereof shall he the Supreme law of the land; and the judges in every state shall he bound 

thereby, anything in the constitution or laws of the state to the contrary notwithstanding 

The federal district courts arc obliged to disregard state court decisions that are not 

consistent with federal laws. There is no basis for this court to dismiss Mr. Danon's case due to 

a New York court's disregard or misinterpretation of federal law and regulations. 

Federal laws have established a strong federal interest in enlisting whistleblowers to 

report violations of federal laws and protecting whistleblowcrs who report conduct to federal 

authorities that they reasonably believe is illegal. The state court opinion recognized that Mr. 
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Dation was a whistleblower, the pivotal issue in this case., noting that its decision did not prevent 

the State of New York from using the information provided by Mr. Danon in seeking damages 

against Vanguard. It denied Mr. Danon the right to damages because, as we shall see, it was dead 

wrong in staling that he was not engaged in protected activity 

Sarbanes Oxley imposed a duty to disclose wrongdoing on accountants, officers and 

directors and other employees to disclose wrongdoing. Section 806 amended Tide 18 USC by 

adding Section 1541A into the criminal code to provide that no company with securities 

registered under section 12 of the Securities Act of 1934 (which clearly applies to Vanguard) or 

any officer, employee, etc. can discharge, demote, threaten or otherwise discriminate against an 

"employee" who provides information (documents) causes information to be provided or assists 

in an investigation by the SEC. At all times before his wrongful termination Mr. Danon was an 

employee of Vanguard. Nothing in that statute requires that in order to be protected from 

retaliation an employee must first go to the SEC before disclosing internally to an employer.. 

Nothing in the statute prevents an employee from seeking damages in a civil action. 

In July, 2010 Congress enacted the Dodd —Frank Act providing additional protection to 

whisticblowers and clearly stating that vv-histleblower disclosures are protected if they are" made 

to a person with supervisory authority over the employee or to Congress or the SEC" Mr. 

Danon's actions were consistent with the purposes and explicit provisions of both Sarbanes-

Oxley and Dodd Frank. He disclosed first to Vanguard and then to the SEC. The state courts 

denial of a NYFCA retaliation claim is not relevant to this federal action. Mr Danon is fully 

entitled to protection under both the Sarbanes -Oxley and Dodd Frank statutes. When Mr. Danon 

notified his supervisor of Vanguard's violations and Vanguard elected to terminate him rather 

than clean up its act Vanguard was in further violation of the law. Please see 17 C.F.R. Section 
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270.38a-i (a)(4). because Vanguard responded to Mr. Danon by advising him to shut up and not 

put his opinions in writing. In short Vanguard attempted to make Mr. Danon a co-conspirator in 

its criminal conduct and when he refused Vanguard fired him. 

Mr. Danon has also asserted a claim under Pennsylvania's "Whistleblower Law" Act of 

Dec. 12, 1986, P.L 1159, NO 169 (Exhibit E). The Preamble states: 

"Providing protection for employees who report a violation or a 

suspected violation of State, local or Federal Law,  providing 

protection for employees who participate in hearings, 

investigations, legislative inquiries or court actions, and 

prescribing remedies and penalties." 

The statue defines "an appropriate authority" as a Federal, State or local government 

body or agency. Thus when Mr. Danon reported the activities of Vanguard he was also protected 

by the Pennsylvania statute. Section 3 of the Act clearly states that Vanguard acted in violation 

of the law when it terminated Mr. Danon. Please see Exhibit A. 

IV. PLAINTIFF ENGAGED IN PROTECTED ACTIVITY UNDER FEDERAL 
& STATE LAW 

Mr. Danon, Esq. was employed as a tax lawyer in Vanguard's legal department to 

provide advice regarding tax planning and reporting by Vanguard and the hinds, including 

ensuring that fund tax-related securities law disclosures and returns and reports filed by 

Vanguard and the funds complied with the law. Mr. Danon realized that the fundamental terms 

of Vanguard's service agreements with the funds and Vanguard's treatment of its multibillion 

"Contingency Reserve' violated fundamental federal and state income tax laws and reported this 

fact to his supervisor, a Vanguard tax lawyer who was the head of tax in Vanguard's Legal 
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Department and also a Vanguard "Principal".( Vanguard does not have a "President" or "Vice-

Presidents". It has "Managing Directors" and other officers with the title of "Principal"). In 

response Mr. Danon's superior told Mr. Danon to stop providing this advice and to never put this 

advice in writing. was told to stop talking about his beliefs and to not put them in writing. He 

was then transferred to another department because he had "annoyed" senior management. Mr. 

Damon subsequently refused to perform further conduct that Mr. Danon knew was illegal and in 

many cases criminal. Eventually he was called to a meeting and terminated with a few months to 

look for another. job. Discovery in this action will reveal the full facts. 

Congress enacted several statutes to combat corporate fraud and crime. Sarbanes —Oxley 

mandated disclosures by corporate accountants, officers and attorneys and delegated to the SEC 

the authority to adopt regulations to further the statutory purposes. After notice and public 

comment the SEC published regulations to encourage whistleblowers to aid the government in 

identifying corporate fraud and criminal practices. Similar whistleblower provisions and 

protections were enacted in the Federal False Claims Act and in the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 

Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Dodd Frank enacted even greater protections for 

whistleblowers including bans on retaliation and discrimination and created a direct right of 

private action in the federal district courts and enlarged the statute of limitations to six years. 

Like Sarbanes —Oxley, Dodd Frank expressly directed the SEC to draft regulations to 

further statutory purposes and after notice and comment the SEC published rules and regulations 

it believed were reasonable and necessary to further the purposes of Dodd Frank. The SEC has 

expressly stated that attorneys and in-house counsel are hound by its disclosure rules to the 

extent permitted by applicable attorney ethical rules. Plaintiff has already set forth the ABA and 

Pennsylvania rules which permitted his disclosures. 
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Rarely does the SEC file an amicus brief but it considered these regulations and the role 

of whistleblowers so critical that it filed such a brief in John S. Verble v. Morgan Stanley et al.  

No: 15-6397Tbe United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit on February 4, 2016. 

Federal statutes and regulations expressly reject the state court's decision that a whistleblower 

must first go to the SEC before the whistleblower engages in protected activity. Uniformity of 

enforcement requires state courts to defer to federal statutes that define protected activity.. In its 

Verble  brief the SEC cited Chevron,  U.S.A. Inc v. Natural Res. Dcf Council  467 U.S.837 

(1984) in which the Supreme Court held that where a statute expressly authorizes an agency to 

adopt regulations to carry out the statutory purposes and the agency adopts reasonable 

regulations the regulations have the effect of law and are entitled to deference in the court. 

Section 21 F is codified at 15 U.S.C.78u-6(h)(1). 

THE ANTI-RETALIATION RU LE 

Vanguard, created by extraordinarily expansive use of SEC regulatory authority, makes 

the bold claim that the SEC lacked the authority to promulgate the Anti-Retaliation Rule despite 

the fact that the Dodd-Frank Act explicitly  charged the SEC "to issue such rules and regulations 

as may be necessary or appropriate to implement" the whistleblower provisions, 15 U.S.C. § 

78u-6(j) creating a standard of review under which "a reviewing court must find the [SEC's'  

construction permissible unless it is arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute." 

Tovar v. United States Postal Service, 3 F.3d 1271, 1276 (9th Cir. 1993) (emphasis added). 

The court should have no difficulty denying Vanguard's claim because the Anti-

Retaliation Rule: 

• Was issued under an explicit legislative grant of authority and therefore is subject to 
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deference under• an arbitrary/capricious standard that it could not possibly fail to meet; 

and 

• Should easily satisfy the higher standard for implied grants of authority under which a 

Court must defer to an agency rule unless the court is "compelled' to reject" its 

construction of the statute because it is irrational or obviously inconsistent with the 

statute (Leisnoi, Inc. v. Strairnan, 154 F.3d 1062, 1069 (9th Cir. 1998)) because the SEC 

reasonably concluded that the Anti-Retaliation Rule would further the objectives of the 

Whistleblower Rule. 

THE COURT SHOULD APPLY THE EXPLICIT AUTHORITY STANDARD 
AND RESPECT THE ANTI-RETALIATION RULE 

The Chevron framework requires courts to determine, using "the ordinary tools of 

statutory construction . . . whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at issue. 

If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the court, as well as the agency, 

must give effect to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress." City of Arlington, Mx. V. 

FCC, 133 S. Ct. 1863, 1868 (2013) (quotation omitted). If a court determines that a statute is 

ambiguous it must proceed to the second step of its analysis and if the agency's construction was 

made (i) pursuant to an explicit grant of authority defer to the construction unless it is arbitrary 

or capricious or (ii) pursuant to an implicit grant of authority defer to the construction if it "is 

based on a permissible construction of the statute," which standard does not require that the 

agency's construction he the only possible construction or the one the court would reach on its 

own., only that the construction is reasonable. Id 

Dodd-Frank's explicit instruction to the SEC "to issue such rules and regulations as may 

be necessary or appropriate to implement" the whistleblower provisions (15 U.S.C. § 78u-6(j)) 

establishes the extraordinarily high "arbitrary and capricious standard" of review.. The 
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court should have no difficulty holding that the Anti-Retaliation Rule is not arbitrary 

and capricious. In its rulemaking process of rule proposal, comment period and response and rule 

adoption the SEC stressed its goal of promoting awards to external whistleblowers while 

not undermining internal compliance systems. The Anti- Retaliation Rule is a rational solution to 

this concern, i.e., cannot possibly be deemed arbitrary or capricious because providing protection 

fi-om retaliation solely to external whistleblowers would provide a disincentive to internal 

reporting. 

THE COURT SHOULD RESPECT THE ANTI-RETALIATION RULE EVEN 
UNDER THE IMPLICIT AUTHORITY STANDARD 

A number of courts have applied the "permissible construction" standard with the 

significant majority of courts deferring to the Anti-Retaliation Rule by determining that it is 

a reasonable construction of any perceived ambiguity or gap in the Dodd Frank 

statutory language, taking into account SEC expertise and Dodd Frank's public policy goals. 

Chevron deference reflects recognition of the expertise of agencies charged with 

developing, administrating and enforcing bodies of law. Not all agencies are equal in expertise, 

scope and the authority granted to them by Congress and scholars have noted that a different 

level of judicial review applies to different agencies and the SEC is an extraordinarily important 

and expert agency entitled to the highest level of deference.' chevron deference doesn't mean 

that the SEC can do whatever it wants with little or no judicial review, but it should mean that in 

'Cass Sunstein has suggested that judicial review reflects different levels of review for different agencies based on 
level of expertise and that the SEC may be accorded particularly high deference. See Beyond Marbury-  vs. Madison, 
The Executive's Power to Say What The law Is, Sunstein, Cass, 115 Yale L.J. 2580 
(2006): flap yalelawj oumal. org/essay/beyond-ligmarburylig-the-executives-power-to-say-what-the-law-  is. 
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assessing the reasonableness of SEC rules intended to further statutory purposes a court should 

consider the SF.C's particularly high level of expertise. The court should consider this expertise 

in evaluating the "permissible construction" standard in light of the following overarching 

question: 

Was it unreasonable for the SEC to conclude that (i) protecting internal as well 

as external whistleblowers was the most effective way to further the purposes of Dodd 

Frank's whistleblower provisions and (ii) failure to protect internal whistleblowers from 

retaliation could undermine internal compliance programs and therefore end up thwarting 

these purposes? 

Unless the court determines that protecting internal whistleblowers against retaliation 

would be contrary to Congressional intent even if the SEC determined such protections would 

best further the purposes of Dodd Frank the court should defer to the Anti-Retaliation Rule. 

Thus, in order to strike down the Anti-Retaliation Rule the court must determine that Congress 

specifically intended (i) to protect internal whistleblowers against retaliation if they report to the 

SEC and (ii) to deny retaliation protection to internal whistleblowers who do not report to the 

SEC, even if the SEC determined that internal reporting is critical to enhanced compliance and 

that providing protection to such internal whistleblowers is critical to internal reporting. But 

then the court should answer the following questions: 

Why would Congress want to impose this crazy straightjacket on the agency it charged 

with furthering Dodd Frank's public policy goals and is there any evidence at all that 

Congress intended this result? 
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It was entirely rational for the SEC to conclude that retaliatory protections solely for 

external whistleblowers would disincentivize internal reporting and thwart the internal-followed-

by-external reporting ideal envisioned by the SEC. The_Verble  milieus  outlines the SEC goal of 

internal-followed-by-external reporting with express protections for both internal and external 

reporting irrespective of whether an internal whistleblower also reports to the SEC. The New 

York court applied only state laws irrelevant to this action and incorrectly determined that 

because Mr. Dation went first to his employer he was not engaged in protected activity and 

could be fired. The New York rules are not applicable to this action as that court failed to address 

the Federal statutes and regulations that Mr Danon identified in the statement of jurisdiction in 

his Complaint and which establish robust whistleblower protections. 

In enacting these statutes and rules Congress and the SEC stressed that whistleblowers 

are essential in combating wrongdoing such as led to the 2008 financial crisis. The SEC has 

stated that its rules were carefully calibrated to achieve the objective of providing "strong 

incentives for individuals to report internally in the first instance. Exhibit B (SEC Adapting 

Release at 34301 p.1-5; 55-66 cited at page 3 of the SEC brief.) In footnote 1 the SEC 

recognized that internal reporting is not always appropriate and that whistleblowers will be in the 

best position to determine whether internal reporting is advisable. Mr. Danon took the first step 

of internal reporting in an attempt to get Vanguard to stop its illegal conduct and as a result he 

was fired.. The Verblc  brief cites numerous cases that have respected the Anti-RetaliationRulc 

and have held that internal reporting by itself is protected conduct.. The defendant's Motion 

states that Mr. Danon did not engage in protected activity but its footnote at p23 cites numerous 

cases that have held that whistleblowers are not required to report to the SEC in order forinternal 

reporting to constitute protected conduct .In Peters v Lifelock  Inc No 2:14-cv 00576, Dkt 47(D 
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Ariz September 19, 2014). the court clearly stated that there is no basis to ignore the SEC 's 

Anti-Retaliation Rule. It is axiomatic that by encouraging internal reporting the SEC consistent 

with Dodd Frank whistleblower protections fully intended that internal whistleblowing 

constitutes protected activity. See SEC brief at p.4. See also Blakeslee v. Shaw Infrastructures, 

Inc., Case No. 3:2009cv00214 Exhibit C, 

In the last 15 years Congress has twice enacted sweeping legislation to further whistleblowing. 

Sarbanes- Oxley established rules requiring public accountants to disclose illegal acts 

discovered if internal reporting foes not lead to compliance and promoting internal governance 

action and directed the SEC to issue regulations requiring attorneys to disclose securities law 

violations and any "breach of fiduciary duty or similar violations of the company or any agent 

therefor. The SEC promulgated 17 C.F.R.Section 05.3(d)(2) providing that after internal 

reporting any attorney who "reasonable believes that it is necessary to report to the Commission 

may report evidence of a material violation to the SEC. Dodd Frank established awards and 

sweeping protections to encourage reporting by whistleblowers, including protections for 

disclosures made to "a person with supervisory authority over the employee OR to Congress Or 

to the SEC" (Emphasis added) Mr. Danon's 

initial disclosures were to the head of Vanguard's tax department who was a lawyer and a 

Principal of the company and after Vanguard failed to cease its illegal conduct and fired him, Mr 

Danon reported to the SEC. Dr Danon fully complied with the law. Vanguard violated the law 

by (i) violating crystal clear tax and securities laws, (ii) ignoring Mr. Danon's advice to cease 

and desist its violations and (iii)firing Mr. Danon. See 17 C.F.R. Section 270.38a-1(a)(4). 

As stated at p 9 of the Verble brief the Sec drafted the Anti-Retaliation Rule in order to 

avoid disincentivizing potential whistleblowers from internal reporting. Mr.Danon's course of 
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action was precisely the action that the Rule was intended to promote and provides for his action 

to recover damages against Vanguard for its retaliation. 

Vanguard's claim that Mr. Danon was not engaged in protected conduct is refuted by 

sweeping Federal laws and regulations that actively enlist and protect whistleblowers such as 

Mr. Danon. He has stated a valid cause of action and is entitled to relief and a jury trial. 

STILL EMPLOYED 

The state court's decision that New York attorney rules bar attorney's from pursuing qui 

tam actions against prior employees is irrelevant to this action. The vast majority of 

whisticblowers are employees. Federal law does not require whistleblowers to resign prior to 

reporting wrongdoing and the bar on firing whistleblowers would be meaningless if they first had 

to resign. That opinion is just so far off the legal path as to question what the court's 

understanding may be about whistleblowcrs. Defense counsel effusively praised whistleblowersl 

when she worked as a U.S. Attorney, noting that the whistleblowers perform a necessary service 

at great personal risk. "They are fired or have to quit." So there are still a lot of heroes still in the 

process. It sends a chill down your spine that they are taking such huge risks just in terms of 

peace of mind." U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services N.Y.N.Y. Medicare Fraud Summit 

Civil Law Panel, You Tube Nov 5, 2000. It is submitted that the arguments on behalf of 

Vanguard made by counsel in the state action that Mr. Danon's claims should be dismissed 

because he acted while still employed is disingenuous at best. 

Under a fair reading of Exhibit F to Vanguard's Motion which is incorporated by 

reference, federal law and SEC regulation 21F clearly protects Mr. Danon's activities while still 

employed and the state court decision is not a valid basis for invoking collateral estoppel. 

v.COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL 
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V. COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL 

There is no federal statute defining collateral estoppel and therefore the federal courts 

look to federal precedents and the common law or decisional law of the state jurisdictions. Both 

parties to this action are citizens of Pennsylvania and all of the relevant conduct occurred in 

Pennsylvania. 

The issue of collateral estoppel was addressed by the Supreme Court of the United States 

in Parklane Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore,  439 U.S. 322(1979). In Parklane the issue was whether 

the proxy statement submitted was false. The shareholders had filed an action for damages 

caused by the false proxy statement but while that action was pending the SEC obtained a 

declaratory judgment against the defendant in the district court in New York. The Supreme 

Court held that because the SEC action was fully litigated and the interests of the corporation 

received a full and fair hearing to litigate the validity of the proxy statement, collateral estoppel 

barred litigating the falsity of the proxy statement against the shareholder —plaintiffs. Parklane at 

W26-328. 

The determining factor was that the Petitioner had every incentive in the SEC action to 

fully and vigorously litigate the issue. In framing the question Mr. Justice Stewart asked the 

pivotal question "whether a party who has issues of fact adjudicated against it" is barred by 

collateral estoppel. The Court noted that the SEC action went to trial for 4 days and that the SEC 

action involved the same claims as existed in Parklane.  (Supra at p.318). In the instant case 

there is no identity of claims. 

Parklanc  noted that district courts have broad discretion to the district courts to not apply 

collateral estoppel if a party has not had a full and fair hearing on the merits of his claim and had 

the factual issues relevant to his claims litigated. Only then does collateral estoppel apply. In 
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footnotes 15 and 16 to the Supreme Court's opinion the Restatement (Second) of Judgments 

Section 88 (Tentative Draft No 2 April 15 1975) was cited. In footnote 15 it is stated: "If for 

example the defendant/ party was forced to litigate in an inconvenient forum or it was not able to  

engage in full scale discovery or call witnesses  the application of the offensive use of collateral 

estoppel may be unwarranted." Emphasis added. In its decision in Parklane, super, the Supreme 

Court made little distinction between the offensive and defensive use of collateral estoppel. In 

the state court action Vanguard was the moving party and Mr. Danon was the respondent. In 

effect it is Vanguard in this action which seeks to assert the offensive use of collateral estoppel. 

As noted the offensive application of collateral estoppel may be unwarranted because there was 

no trial, no discovery, there were different issues and different claims under different laws in the 

state court action.In footnote 16 again citing Section 88 of the Restatement the court noted that 

the party seeking to rely on issue preclusion has the burden of proving that there was an adequate 

opportunity; a full and fair trial on the issues. "The distinct trend, if not, the clear weight of 

authority is to the effect that there is no intrinsic difference between offensive as distinct from 

defensive issue preclusion although a stronger showing that the prior opportunity to litigate was 

adequate may be required in the former than in the latter." Vanguard has made no showing of a 

full and fair trial on the merits or the adequate opportunity for discovery. Plaintiff asserts that 

the state court action was dismissed in a preliminary Motion is and there was no full and fair 

hearing of his federally created causes of action. The decision was based on the NYFCA and the 

New York ethics rules as to whether Mr. Danon could financially benefit in a qui tam action. 

The present case involves different claims and different standards of attorney conduct. It 

is not a qui tam action but a claim by an employee-whistleblower under the federal and state 

statutes for wrongful termination. The damages recoverable are entirely different and the right to 
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those damages was never litigated in the state action. As finther stated elsewhere in this brief the 

Pennsylvania Rules of Professional Conduct which unlike the New York rules are modeled on 

the ABA Model Rules provide that Mr. Danon's actions were ethically done. 

Pennsylvania state courts have applied the same standards as Pai-klane in applying 

collateral estoppel.  In Fisher v. Dawley,  Phila. CCP (opinion attached as Exhibit 1)) the 

Honorable Albert W Shepperd, Jr. stated the requirements for the application of collateral 

estoppel: 

1) The issue decided in the prior case must be identical to the one presented in the later 

case 

2) There was a final judgment on the merits 

3) The party against whom the claim is asserted was a party or in privity with a parts,  in 

the prior case 

4) The party or person in privity with the party against whom it: is asserted had a full and 

fair opportunity to litigate the issues in the prior proceeding 

5) The determination in the prior proceeding was essential to the judgment. 

The court cited Spisak v Edelstein  768 A. 2d 874 (Pa Super 2001) quoting Incollingo v  

Maurer, 575 A.2d 939,940 (Pa Super 1990). 

The Fisher Court noted that all of the findings against Mr. Da.wley had been fully tried to 

a verdict and were upheld on appeal. To the contrary Mr. Danon's state court action is on 

appeal. The judgment is not final. Likewise there was no full and fair trial on the merits. The 

issues involved in this case were not addressed in the state court action. There was no 

opportunity for discovery. Mr. Danon's role as a relator in a qui tarn action was the focus of the 

state court's decision. There was no consideration of the rights given to Mr. Danon under the 
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federal statutes and indeed the state court's decision is devoid of any reference to the federal 

whistleblower protections under Sarbanes-Oxley and the Dodd-Frank Act. Clearly the issues 

were not the same. At page 7-19 of Defendant's Exhibit B the New York court dealt exclusively 

with that state's ethical rules which are not the same as the Rules of Professional Conduct or the 

ABA's Model Rules. New York is an outlier to the ethical rules that apply in 47 out of 50 states. 

The court failed to apply the conflict of law rules which should have applied to Mr. Danon's 

conduct. Mr. Danon was employed in Pennsylvania at the main offices of Vanguard in Valley 

Forge, Pennsylvania and all of the relevant conduct occurred in Pennsylvania. 

The state court ignored the duties of disclosure by attorneys that are set forth in Sarbanes-

Oxley and in Dodd-Frank. The state court ignored the law that provides that whether a 

whistleblower reports wrongdoing internally first or elects to report to the SEC first they are still 

engaged in protected conduct which of course the state court ignored. 

Wherefore for the reasons stated this Court in the exercise of the discretion given by the 

Supreme Court should decline to apply collateral estoppel to this action. 

V!. PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS ARE NOT PRECLUDED BY THE FAILURE TO 
FILE AN OSHA ARBITRATION 

Whereas it is true that the original Sarbancs- Oxley Act provided for a 180 day filing 

period to assert a whistleblowers action for retaliation conduct, it is also true that the Dodd-Frank 

amendments expanded the whistleblower protections. Included in the Act was Section 922(h.) 

which in subsection (a) precluded any retaliation or discharge of an employee whistleblower and 

in (b) eliminated the 180 day filing period. The statute also created a right to file a direct action 

in the federal district courts and adopted a six year statute of limitations. 

Section 922 H ENFORCEMENT 
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(1) Cause of Action An individual who alleges discharge or other 

discrimination in violation of subparagraph (A) may bring an 

action under this subsection in the appropriate district court of the 

United States for the relief provided in subparagraph C 

(ii) Statute of Limitations (1) In General: An action under this 

subsection may not be brought (aa) more than six years alter the 

date on which the violation of subparagraph A occurred. 

Pursuant to section 922(j) of the Sarbanes Oxley Act the SEC was granted the authority 

to issue such rules and regulations as may be necessary or appropriate to implement the 

provisions of this section consistent with the purposes of this section. The same grant of 

authority was enacted in the Dodd-Frank Act. 

Mr. [)anon timely filed this action. His employment ended in June 2013 and this action 

was commenced on December 31, 2015. 

The Pennsylvania statute granted a whisticblower 180 days to file a civil action in any 

"court of competent jurisdiction" for appropriate injunctive relief or damages. See Exhibit E 

Act of December 12, 1986, P.L. 1559 No 169, CL43. Mr. Danon filed a qui tam action in the 

New York state courts and included in that action was a claim for wrongful termination. That 

action was filed within the 180 day rule. The state action was dismissed because the court on 

ethical grounds asserted that Mr. Danon was not protected under New York law and therefore 

could be terminated by Vanguard. The state court never conducted a full and fair consideration 

of the merits of Mr. Danon's claim for wrongful termination. That action in New York was filed 

timely and there has been sufficient compliance and notice to Vanguard to justify the claims in 

this action to go forward. 
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Wherefore plaintiff requests the Court to deny the Motion to Dismiss as to this issue. 

VII.  ALLEGED FAILURE TO STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION 

Vanguard's Motion to Dismiss alleges a failure to state a cause of action. Mr. Danon has 

extensively stated herein his cause of action as a whistleblower under federal and state law. The 

Motion states the complaint lacks specificity. The defendant has filed hundreds of pages about 

Mr. Danon's activities as a whistleblower. To suggest to this court that the Defendant is unable 

to know the claims asserted against it is not credible. Under the FRCP notice pleading has been 

adopted. The plaintiff is not obliged to plead specific conversations or a schedule of the dates on 

which they occurred. Plaintiff is not obliged to identify all witnesses in his pleading. Plaintiff 

has not set forth in detail all of Vanguard's specific acts of wrongdoing as that would only invite 

another argument that he went beyond disclosures that were necessary to establish his claims. 

Vanguard cannot have it both ways. The complaint puts Vanguard on notice of the nature of his 

claim i.e., an employee who notified his employer of his reasonable belief that it was acting in an 

unlawful manner and was fired for his efforts which were protected by the federal laws. It states 

that he suffered a loss of income, emotional distress, embarrassment, character assassination by 

Vanguard and medical expenses for which he seeks compensatory and punitive damages. The 

complaint sets forth a cause of action. 

The FRCP provide for disclosure of witnesses; discovery including depositions, expert 

witnesses etc. Unlike in the New York action the process provides the opportunity for both sides 

to fully develop all of the information that Vanguard now claims should have been in the 

Complaint. See Rules 16:26-37 
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CONCLUSION 

The Motion to Dismiss should be denied. 

Wherefore, for the reasons submitted the Plaintilrrespeetfully requests that the Court 

enter the attached Order. 

JAMES LEWIS GRIFFITH 
James L. Griffith Esquire LLC 
920 Lenmar Drive 
Blue Bell Pennsylvania 19422 
Counsel for the Plaintiff 
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